#### No. 47444-1-II

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

CURTIS LAMONT CORNWELL,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-04618-2 The Honorable Jack Nevin, Judge

**OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

## **

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY		
	B. Substantive Facts		
	1 Facts from CrR 3.6 Motion to Suppress 3		
	2. Facts from Trial5		
IV.	ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES		
	A. CORNWELL'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED BECAUSE PROBATIONERS DO NOT SACRIFICE ALL OF THEIR PRIVACY RIGHTS WHEN ON COMMUNITY CUSTODY AND BECAUSE CCO GRABSKI'S SEARCH WAS NOT RELATED IN ANY WAY TO THE SUSPECTED VIOLATION OF THE TERMS OF CORNWELL'S RELEASE		
	B. CORNWELL'S TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO ARGUE A CLEARLY MERITORIOUS GROUND FOR SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE		
V.	<b>Conclusion</b>		

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

## CASES

<u>Griffin v. Wisconsin,</u> 483 U.S. 868, 107 S. Ct. 3164, 97 L. Ed. 2d 709 (1987)
New Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 325, 105 S. Ct. 733, 83 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1985)
<u>State v. Buelna Valdez</u> , 167 Wn.2d 761, 224 P.3d 751 (2009)14
<u>State v. Campbell</u> , 103 Wn.2d 1, 691 P.2d 929 (1984)9
<u>State v. Early</u> , 70 Wn. App. 452, 853 P.2d 964 (1993)16
<u>State v. Graham</u> , 78 Wn. App. 44, 896 P.2d 704 (1995)16
<u>State v. Jackson</u> , 150 Wn.2d 251, 76 P.3d 217 (2003)
<u>State v. Jardinez,</u> 184 Wn. App. 518, 338 P.3d 292 (2014)
<u>State v. McFarland</u> , 127 Wn. 2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)16
<u>State v. Meckelson,</u> 133 Wn. App. 431, 135 P.3d 991 (2006)
<u>State v. Mendez</u> , 137 Wn.2d 208, 970 P.2d 722 (1999)8
<u>State v. Mierz</u> , 127 Wn.2d 460, 901 P.2d 286 (1995)16
<u>State v. Parker</u> , 139 Wn.2d 486, 987 P.2d 73 (1999)9, 14
<u>State v. Parris,</u> 163 Wn. App. 110, 259 P.3d 331 (2011)
<u>State v. Patterson</u> , 51 Wn. App. 202, 752 P.2d 945 (1988) 10
State v. Rainey, 107 Wn. App. 129, 28 P.3d 10 (2001) 16, 17

State v. Simms, 10 Wn. App. 75, 516 P.2d 1088 (1973)10
State v. Vrieling, 144 Wn.2d 489, 28 P.3d 762 (2001)8
State v. Winterstein, 167 Wn.2d 620, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009) 9
<u>Strickland v. Washington,</u> 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)16
OTHER AUTHORITIES
CrR 3.66
RCW 9.94A.6319
U.S. Const. amd. IV8
U.S. Const. amd. VI16
Wash. Const. art. I, § 78
Wash. Const. art. I, § 22 (amend. x)16

#### I. Assignments Of Error

- The trial court erred when it denied Curtis Cornwell's CrR 3.6 motion to suppress.
- 2. The trial court erred when it ruled that Curtis Cornwell had no expectation of privacy in his car and personal possessions because he was on community custody.
- The trial court erred when it ruled that Curtis Cornwell's community corrections officer could search any and all of Cornwell's property whenever the officer believed Cornwell violated the terms of his community custody.
- 4. The State failed to meet its burden of establishing that a valid exception to the warrant requirement justified the search of Curtis Cornwell's car and personal possessions.
- 5. Curtis Cornwell was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel.

#### II. Issues Pertaining To The Assignments Of Error

1. Where Curtis Cornwell's corrections officer believed Cornwell violated the terms of his community custody by failing to report to a meeting with his corrections officer, but where parolees are still entitled to some privacy protections and where a reasonable nexus must exist between the

searched personal property and the alleged violation, did the trial court err when it ruled that Cornwell had no expectation of privacy in his car and personal possessions and that Cornwell's community corrections officer had statutory authority to search any and all of Cornwell's property regardless of whether it might contain evidence of the alleged violation? (Assignments of Error No. 1, 2, 3 & 4)

2. Where trial counsel argued several unsuccessful grounds for suppression of items collected during a search of Curtis Cornwell's car and personal possession, but did not argue the ground that was likely to be successful and result in suppression, was Cornwell denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel? (Assignment of Error 5)

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural History

The State charged Curtis Lamont Cornwell by Information with three counts of unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver (RCW 69.50.401(1)(2)) and one count of resisting arrest (RCW 9A.76.040). (CP 1-2) The trial court denied Cornwell's CrR 3.6 motion to suppress evidence found during a search of the vehicle he had been driving at the time of his arrest.

(CP 79-90; TRP1 135-45)<sup>1</sup> A jury convicted Cornwell as charged. (CP 207-13; TRP2 201) The trial court imposed a standard range sentence totaling 87 months and both mandatory and discretionary legal financial obligations. (SRP 23; CP 125, 126) This appeal follows. (CP 239)

#### B. Substantive Facts

#### 1. Facts from CrR 3.6 Motion to Suppress

Tacoma police officer Randy Frisbie and Community Corrections Officer (CCO) Thomas Grabski were conducting surveillance of a home suspected of being used for drug sales and prostitution. (TRP1 15) Officer Frisbie observed a black Chevrolet Monte Carlo pull alongside CCO Grabski's vehicle and its driver appeared to roll down a window to look at Grabski. (TRP1 15) Officer Frisbie noted the license plate number of the Monte Carlo so that they could later determine the name of its registered owner. (TRP1 15) A few days later, Officer Frisbie saw the Monte Carlo again, and saw an unknown man get out of the driver's side of the car and walk into a pawn shop. (TRP1 15) The officers were unable to learn the identity of the man at that time. (TRP1 15)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial transcripts, labeled volumes I and II, will be referred to as "TRP#." The transcript of sentencing will be referred to as "SRP" and the remaining transcript will be referred to by the date of the proceeding.

However, they were able to learn that the registered owner was named Janet Lamb. (TRP1 15-16) The officers contacted Lamb, who confirmed that she was the registered owner of the Monte Carlo. (TRP1 16) She told the officers that she had given the car to Curtis Cornwell, but now wanted it back.<sup>2</sup> (TRP1 16, 105, 106)

CCO Grabski learned that Cornwell was on community custody and had a Department of Corrections (DOC) warrant issued for his arrest because he had violated the terms of his release. (TRP1 16, 17, 83, 88) Grabski believed that the warrant was issued based on Cornwell's failure to report for a scheduled check-in with his CCO. (TRP1 113) Grabski shared this information with Officer Frisbie. (TRP1 16, 17)

On November 28, 2013, while on patrol with Officer Patrick Patterson, Officer Frisbie saw the Monte Carlo drive past, and assumed Cornwell was the driver. (TRP1 17, 19, 48) Officer Frisbie turned his patrol car to follow the Monte Carlo, but before he was able to activate his emergency lights to initiate a stop, the Monte Carlo pulled into a driveway and Cornwell began to exit the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Grabski testified that he did not interpret this statement to mean that Cornwell had stolen the Monte Carlo, only that Cornwell was likely the person seen driving the Monte Carlo. (TRP1 107)

car. (TRP1 18, 38-39, 48) Officer Frisbie ordered Cornwell to stay in the vehicle, but he did not comply. Cornwell instead lowered himself to the ground, then jumped up and began to run away. (TRP1 19-20, 49) Officers Frisbie and Patterson tased Cornwell, then took him into custody. (TRP1 20, 21, 49) The officers confirmed Cornwell's identity and warrant status, then called Grabski who, as a CCO, can conduct a warrantless "compliance check" search of property when an offender is suspected of violating the terms of community custody. (TRP1 21, 22, 51, 57-58, 80)

Grabski arrived and contacted Cornwell, then decided to search the Monte Carlo because Cornwell was driving the car when he was arrested. (TRP1 22, 90) On the front seat, Grabski found a black nylon bag containing what appeared to be prescription pills. (TRP1 22, 52-53, 90, 91)

#### 2. Facts from Trial

In addition to the facts testified to at the CrR 3.6 hearing, Officers Frisbie, Patterson and Grabski testified at trial that the black nylon pouch contained three different types of pills, a lighter, a spoon, and unused ziplock baggies. (TRP2 60, 64-66, 67, 73, 74, 102, 104) Cornwell also was in possession of three cellular phones

and \$1,573 in mixed denomination bills. (TRP2 56, 83, 105) The officers testified that these items were commonly associated with the sale of narcotics and that the amount of pills found was inconsistent with an amount likely needed for personal use. (TRP2 49, 94-96, 111)

The three types of pills found in the black pouch were analyzed. (TRP2 139) One type contained oxycodone, one type contained amphetamine, and the third type contained methamphetamine. (TRP2 142, 144, 145) Cornwell told the officers that he had the pills because he suffered from migraine headaches. (TRP1 53; TRP2 100)

#### IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

1. CORNWELL'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED BECAUSE PROBATIONERS DO NOT SACRIFICE ALL OF THEIR PRIVACY RIGHTS WHEN ON COMMUNITY CUSTODY AND BECAUSE CCO GRABSKI'S SEARCH WAS NOT RELATED IN ANY WAY TO THE SUSPECTED VIOLATION OF THE TERMS OF CORNWELL'S RELEASE.

CrR 3.6(b) requires that the trial court enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law following its decision on a motion to suppress brought pursuant to CrR 3.6(a). The trial court failed to enter these required findings in this case, which makes it impossible for Cornwell to assign error to findings of fact. However,

it is clear from the testimony at the hearing that the Officers believed that DOC had issued a warrant for Cornwell's arrest because he had failed to report and this was the entire and only basis for the contact and arrest on November 28, 2013; that the Monte Carlo had been seen near a suspected drug house at some unspecified date and time prior to Cornwell's arrest; that the Monte Carlo was registered to Janet Lamb; that Lamb had at one point given Cornwell permission to drive the Monte Carlo but had since changed her mind; and that the search of the Monte Carlo was conducted under the statutory authority that allows a CCO to conduct a compliance check of an offender suspected of violating the terms of his or her release. (TRP1 12-13, 15, 16, 17, 22, 24, 57-58, 60, 63, 64, 80, 90, 93, 106, 107, 113)

The trial court denied Cornwell's motion to suppress the items found in the Monte Carlo during the search. The trial court concluded that CCO Grabski had reasonable grounds to believe that Cornwell violated the terms of his release because of the existence of the warrant. (TRP1 142) The court upheld the search stating, in relevant part:

Cornwell may indeed have had a subjective expectation of privacy in his personal effects in the car. But that expectation was not a reasonable, an

objectively reasonable expectation in these circumstances. His status as probationer means that his effects and his personal belongings . . . and other personal property, was continuously subject to searches and seizures by law enforcement officials. His expectation of privacy in his personal effects fails the reasonable test in my opinion . . . because there has been a legislative determination that probationers do not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in residences, vehicles, or personal belongings, even including closed containers. And our appellate courts have acknowledged that, otherwise, our laws and society demand a warrant for such searches but not for those who are on community custody. So part of my holding is that Mr. Cornwell did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the inside of that vehicle[.]

(TRP1 140-41) (A copy of the trial court's full oral ruling is attached in the Appendix.)

When reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress, the trial court's conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo*. State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 214, 970 P.2d 722 (1999) (citing State v. Johnson, 128 Wn.2d 431, 443, 909 P.2d 293 (1996)). In this case, a de novo review shows that the trial court was incorrect.

Both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution protect citizens against warrantless searches and seizures.<sup>3</sup>

8

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It is now settled that Art. I, § 7 is more protective than the Fourth Amendment. State v. Jackson, 150 Wn.2d 251, 260, 76 P.3d 217 (2003); State v. Vrieling, 144 Wn.2d 489, 495, 28 P.3d 762 (2001).

Warrantless searches and seizures are per se unreasonable. State v. Parker, 139 Wn.2d 486, 496, 987 P.2d 73 (1999). Because this is a strict rule, courts limit and narrowly construe exceptions to the warrant requirement. Parker, 139 Wn.2d at 496. Whether a search is justified by a warrant or by some exception to the warrant requirement, the scope and manner of the search itself must be reasonable. See New Jersey v. T.L.O., 469 U.S. 325, 337, 105 S. Ct. 733, 83 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1985).

Washington courts have recognized an exception to the warrant requirement allowing for a search of parolees or probationers. State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 22, 691 P.2d 929 (1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1094, 85 L. Ed. 2d 526, 105 S. Ct. 2169 (1985). RCW 9.94A.631 provides, in relevant part:

If there is reasonable cause to believe that an offender has violated a condition or requirement of the sentence, an offender may be required to submit to a search and seizure of the offender's person, residence, automobile, or other personal property.

However, while persons on community custody have a lesser expectation of privacy than the general public, they are still entitled to some constitutional protections. <u>Griffin v. Wisconsin</u>, 483 U.S. 868, 873, 107 S. Ct. 3164, 97 L. Ed. 2d 709 (1987); <u>State v. Winterstein</u>, 167 Wn.2d 620, 628-29, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009).

Accordingly, there are limits to warrantless searches of offenders on community custody, and CCO Grabski exceeded those limits.

"[A] diminution of Fourth Amendment protection can only be justified 'to the extent actually necessitated by the legitimate demands of the operation of the parole process." State v. Simms, 10 Wn. App. 75, 86, 516 P.2d 1088 (1973) (quoting In re Martinez, 83 Cal. Rptr. 382, 463 P.2d 734, 738, n. 6 (1970)). "[A] balancing of the parolee's privacy interest with the societal interest in public safety is necessary to determine the proper scope of the warrantless search condition in [the offender's] parole agreement[.]" State v. Patterson, 51 Wn. App. 202, 208, 752 P.2d 945 (1988). Thus, even in the context of a search by a CCO, the scope of a search must be reasonable.

For example, in <u>Patterson</u>, witnesses identified probationer Patterson as the person who committed an armed robbery, and police received separate tips that the weapon used would be found in Patterson's car. Division 3 held that this constituted reasonable suspicion for a parole officer to search Patterson's car without a warrant. 51 Wn. App. at 209.

Conversely, in <u>State v. Parris</u>, a CCO searched the residence of probationer Derek Parris, whose community custody

conditions included prohibitions on contact with minors, possession of sexually explicit materials, and use of drugs or alcohol. 163 Wn. App. 110, 120, 259 P.3d 331 (2011). Parris had been spotted in his car with an underage girl, had failed a urinalysis drug test, and Parris' mother told the officers that Parris might have obtained a firearm. 163 Wn. App. at 120. During a search of his residence, which Parris did not challenge, officers found memory cards and other digital storage devices. 163 Wn. App. at 120.

Parris challenged the seizure and viewing of the contents of the memory cards, but this Court ruled that the CCO had a well-founded and reasonable suspicion that the memory cards might contain evidence of the suspected and additional violations. 163 Wn. App. at 120. Accordingly, "the requirements of community custody necessitated the search [of the memory cards] both for Parris' safety and for the safety of others." 163 Wn. App. at 120.

The <u>Parris</u> opinion suggested, but did not explicitly hold, that perhaps an offender on community custody has no expectation of privacy in any of his or her property and is not entitled to any protections afforded under the Fourth Amendment:

RCW 9.94A.631(1) operates as a legislative determination that probationers do not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in their residences,

vehicles, or personal belongings (including closed containers) for which society is willing to require a warrant. The statute itself diminishes the probationer's expectation of privacy. We hold, therefore, that Parris had no reasonable expectation of privacy in his portable memory cards and, thus, no separate warrant was required to search the memory cards' contents.

163 Wn. App. at 123 (footnotes omitted). The trial court in this case seemed to come to the same conclusion, holding that Cornwell had absolutely no expectation of privacy in his car or the personal items within. (TRP1 140-41)

But such a broad reading of RCW 9.94A.631(1) was subsequently rejected by Division 3 in State v. Jardinez, 184 Wn. App. 518, 338 P.3d 292 (2014). At issue was whether Jardinez's CCO had legal authority to search the content of his iPod when the CCO did not expect the search to yield evidence related to either of the known parole violations (Jardinez's failure to appear and his marijuana use). 184 Wn. App. at 523. The State argued that "any parole violation justifies any search for any other violation [and] that the statute allows a search of 'other personal property,' which, according to the State, implies property other than the property with a nexus to any criminal activity." 184 Wn. App. at 525 (emphasis in original).

The <u>Jardinez</u> court rejected the State's invitation to read RCW 9.94A.631(1) so broadly, and emphasized that there must be a reasonable nexus between the searched personal property and the alleged crime or violation.<sup>4</sup> 184 Wn. App. at 529. In reaching this conclusion, the court relied on well-established search and seizure law, and on the Sentencing Guidelines Commission's official comment regarding RCW 9.94A.631(1):

"The Commission intends that Community Corrections Officers exercise their arrest powers sparingly, with due consideration for the seriousness of the violation alleged and the impact of confinement on jail population. Violations may be charged by the Community Corrections Officer upon notice of violation and summons, without arrest.

The search and seizure authorized by this section should relate to the violation which the Community Corrections Officer believes to have occurred."

184 Wn. App. at 529 (quoting David Boerner, Sentencing in Washington: A Legal Analysis of the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981, at app. 1-13 (1985)) (emphasis added).

In this case, CCO Grabski testified that the violation underlying Cornwell's warrant was likely a failure to report. (TRP1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The <u>Jardinez</u> court noted that, if read broadly, <u>Parris</u> could be interpreted as supporting a search of any offender's property upon violation of community custody conditions, but noted that the <u>Parris</u> court "did not expressly rule that all property of the offender may be searched." 184 Wn. App. at 527-28.

85, 101, 102, 113) There would be no need to search the Monte Carlo or the black nylon bag to find proof of this suspected violation. In fact, Grabski testified that the purpose of the search was to "to make sure there's no further violations of his probation." (TRP1 93) Grabski was not looking for evidence of the suspected violation, but instead expanded the scope of his search beyond its proper limits in order to look for evidence of additional violations.

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