NO. 47444-1

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

CURTIS CORNWELL, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Jack Nevin, Judge

No. 13-1-04618-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
JASON RUYF
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE DRUGS DISCOVERED DURING THE DOC COMPLIANCE SEARCH TRIGGERED BY HIS FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH COMMUNITY CUSTODY AND ATTEMPT TO FLEE FROM ARREST ON AN ASSOCIATED WARRANT.

"The recidivism rate of probationers is significantly higher than the general crime rate." *United States v. Knight*, 534 U.S. 112, 120, 122 S. Ct. 587 (2001). "And [they] have even more of an incentive to conceal their criminal activities and quickly dispose of incriminating evidence than the ordinary criminal because [they] are aware ... they may be subject to supervision and face revocation ..., and possible incarceration" *Id.* "As the recidivism rate demonstrates, most [of them] are ill prepared to handle the pressures of reintegration. Thus most ... require intense supervision." *Samson v. California*, 547 U.S. 843, 854-55, 126 S. Ct. 2193 (2006). It is clear RCW 9.94A.631 facilitates such supervision by permitting rapid detection of a noncompliant offender's contraband and criminal activity. *United States v. Conway*, 122 F.3d 841, 842-43 (9th Cir. 1997)(citing *Griffin v. Wisconsin*, 483 U.S. 868, 875, 107 S. Ct. 3164 (1987).

- a. Defendant failed to preserve a challenge to the DOC compliance search based on an alleged lack of nexus between the triggering violation and car searched.

Defendants typically cannot change theories for the suppression of evidence on appeal. *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 718–719, 718 P.2d 407, *overruled on other grounds by*, *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). An appeal's scope should be limited by the objections raised in the trial court. *See* ER 103(a)(1); *State v. Harris*, 154 Wn. App. 87, 94, 224 P.3d 830 (2010); *DeHaven v. Gant*, 42 Wn. App. 666, 669, 713 P.2d 149 (1986) (citing *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986)); *State v. Boast*, 87 Wn.2d 447, 451, 533 P.2d 1322 (1976). Appellate courts will not generalize specific objections to enable review of new theories. *DeHaven*, 42 Wn. App. at 670. For where the trial court was never asked to rule and did not rule, there is no ruling, and therefore no constitutional error manifest in the record as there must be for unpreserved challenges to the admissibility of evidence to win review. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Roberts*, 158 Wn. App. 174, 181-82, 240 P.3d 1198 (2010), *rev. granted*, 172 Wn.2d 1017, 262 P.3d 64 (2011); *State v. O' Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2010); *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332-33, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). This narrow exception is not meant to be a means for defendants to obtain new trials whenever unpreserved constitutional issues can be identified. *Id.*

Defendant did not preserve the specific challenge to the DOC compliance search he is attempting to raise on appeal. The CrR 3.6 motion he argued was limited to challenging the basis for the traffic stop and the CCO's authority to search a vehicle registered in a third party's name. CP 82-84, 88-90; 1RP 121-24, 128, 134. There is no dispute the challenged ruling was specifically tailored to resolving those issues. 1RP 135-44. And defendant does not claim they were incorrectly decided. Def.App.p. 6-15.

Defendant nevertheless urges this Court to reverse his convictions by finding that ruling is fatally flawed because the court did not *sua sponte* suppress the evidence of his recidivist-drug dealing through application of the rule pronounced in *State v. Jardinez*, 184 Wn. App. 518, 526, 530, 338 P.3d 292 (2014), even though it was never brought to the court's attention. The requested review should not be granted as the error defendant now alleges is not manifest in the record. He claims DOC Grabski's compliance search of his car was unlawful because it was not factually linked to the violation underlying his arrest. The claim is based on defendant's mistaken assumption the disposition of his case should copy *Jardinez*, where evidence recovered from an iPod during a DOC search was suppressed because the court did not perceive a nexus between the reporting failure, drug use under investigation and iPod. *Id.* at 520. *Jardinez* holding followed from Division III reading RCW 9.94A.631 to limit DOC searches to property likely to contain evidence of a violation under

investigation. *Id.*

Even assuming *Jardinez* was correctly decided and binding in Pierce County given this Court's inconsistent interpretation of RCW 9.94A.631 in *State v. Parris*, 163 Wn. App. 110, 122, 259 P.3d 331 (2011)(quoting *Conway*, 122 F.3d at 843), there is a distinguishing nexus between defendant's searched car and a reasonably suspected violation, for he *resisted arrest* by fleeing from the car upon being alerted to his active DOC warrant. 1RP 20; Ex.4; RCW 9A.76.040. There is testimony his behavior was consistent with a "common tactic" to distance oneself from vehicles perceived to be incriminating, yet the record is underdeveloped on this point since the nexus issue was not raised. *E.g.*, 1RP 19. There was also reason to believe defendant was driving the car when it was observed at a house of ill repute associated with drug use, but again, this fact was only cursorily addressed for the purpose of establishing Frisbie's familiarity with the car prior to the stop rather than to establish proof of the unasserted issue of nexus. 1RP 15, 58, 64, 101.

Lastly, the State could have but understandably did not adduce facts about the cases underlying defendant's supervision, the details of his recidivism or Grabski's understanding of them. But according to this Court's decision in *State v. Lampman*, 45 Wn. App. 228, 230, 234, 45 Wn. App. 228 (1986), those facts would bear upon the reasonableness of Grabski suspecting defendant's car contained evidence of a violation. *See State v. Maesse*, 29 Wn. App. 642, 646, 629 P.2d 1349 (1981)(under the

"fellow officer rule" probable cause for a search may be predicated on knowledge possessed by a searching officer's agency) (citing *Whiteley v. Warden of Wyoming Penitentiary*, 401 U.S. 560, 91 S. Ct. 1031 (1971)). But these facts were not explored due to their irrelevance to the issues defendant raised.

There are consequently critical facts, which if found by the trial court, may have supported the search under even *Jardinez'* unduly restrictive reading of RCW 9.94A.631. Such findings would have received great deference on appeal. *State v. Broadway*, 133 Wn.2d 118, 131, 942 P.2d 363 (1997). Requiring newly imagined constitutional errors to be manifest in the record serves the interests of justice and conserves scarce societal resources by avoiding the embarrassment to justice and waste of resources inherent in the reversal of rulings a perfected record would support. This Court should refrain from reaching the merits of defendant's unpreserved motion to suppress. *E.g.*, Ex. 4; CP 238.

- b. Division III incorrectly restricted DOC searches to areas likely to contain evidence of suspected violations.

Statutory interpretations are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Jones*, 172 Wn.2d 236, 242, 257 P.3d 616 (2011). The judiciary "has exhibited a long history of restraint in compensating for legislative omissions." *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 730, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). It "will not arrogate

to [itself] power to make legislative schemes more ... comprehensive...." *Id.* "[W]here the language of [an] act is plain and unambiguous there is no room for construction; also, it may be conceded ... the policy or impolicy of the law is a matter which the courts will not consider, [for it] ... is a consideration resting entirely within the discretion of the [L]egislature." *State v. Daniel*, 17 Wash. 111, 114, 49 P. 243 (1897).

i. Division III impermissibly added a restrictive clause that cannot be supported by the statute's text.

"[Courts] cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute" *Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d at 727. "[They] are required to assume the Legislature meant exactly what it said and apply the statute as written." *Id.*; *HomeStreet, Inc., v. State, Dep't of Revenue*, 166 Wn.2d 444, 451-52, 210 P.3d 297 (2009). Adhering to "*expression unius est exclusio alterius*,"² courts presume the Legislature intentionally excluded absent language given its presumed awareness of the existing legal framework into which new law is enacted. *Id.* at 729; *Maziar v. Washington State Dep't of Corr.*, 183 Wn.2d 84, 89, 349 P.3d 826 (2015).

The language of RCW 9.94A.631(1)'s disputed text provides:

[I]f there is reasonable cause to believe that an offender has violated a condition or requirement of the sentence, a community corrections officer may require an offender to submit to a search and seizure of the offender's person, residence, automobile, or other personal property.

² To express one thing in a statute implies exclusion of the other.

(emphasis added). Without analysis, Division III concluded:

We cannot discern 'plain meaning' in RCW 9.94A.631(1) for the purpose of addressing the scope of any search. The language could be read to allow an unlimited scope of the search. The statute could be read to limit the search to areas or property about which the community corrections officer has reasonable cause will provide incriminating evidence.

Jardinez, 184 Wn. App. at 526. Nothing in the statute's grammar or language is capable of supporting the latter reading. Without the ambiguity it created, *Jardinez* lacked authority to reach beyond the text to the restrictive clause it imported from commentary never enacted into law. "[A] statute is not ambiguous ... because different interpretations are conceivable." *HomeStreet*, 166 Wn.2d at 451-52. Courts "should not strain for interpretations to create ambiguities where none exist." *State Farm Mut.Auto.Ins.Co. v. Khoe*, 884 F.2d 401, 406 (9th Cir. 1989). Literal interpretation must be strictly applied. *State v. J.P.* 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003); *State v. Wilson*, 125 Wn.2d 212, 216-17, 883 P.2d 320 (1994).

Courts employ traditional rules of grammar to discern a statute's meaning. *Planned Parenthood of Great Northwest v. Boedow*, 187 Wn. App. 606, 621, 350 P.3d 660 (2015)(citing *In re Forfeiture of Ond 1970 Chevrolet Chevelle*, 166 Wn.2d 834, 839, 215 P.3d 166 (2009)). The structure of RCW 9.94A.631's disputed provision is that of a simple

conditional sentence. It creates one causal relationship between a single "if" conditional clause, describing the triggering event of a reasonably suspected violation, and a single "then" main clause, which provides the consequence of authority to search the suspected violator's property. *See* Oxford Dictionary of English Grammar, 2nd Ed. pg. 88-89 (2014). The statute does not express or imply a second conditional clause, such as:

if there is reason to suspect a violation *and if there is also reason to believe evidence of it can found in his property, then....*

There is likewise no room for a second restrictive clause, like:

[] a community corrections officer may require an offender to submit to a search and seizure of the offender's ... property, *but only if there is reason to suspect it contains evidence of the violation under investigation.*

The statute's structure is consequently incapable of conveying the ambiguity *Jardinez* found in it.

The statute's language is equally incapable causing the ambiguity *Jardinez* perceived. "Where a statute uses plain language and defines essential terms, the statute is not ambiguous." *City of Olympia v. Thurston Cty. Bd.of Comm'rs*, 131 Wn. App. 85, 93-94, 125 P.3d 997 (2005). Statutory definitions are controlling. In their absence, definitions derived from dictionaries are applied. *American Continental Ins. Co. v. Steen*, 151 Wn.2d 512, 518, 91 P.3d 864 (2004); *State v. Fjermestad*, 114 Wn.2d 828, 836, 791 P.2d 897 (1990). Thirty eight of the disputed

provision's forty four words are commonly understood terms without special-legal definitions. Of the remaining six, RCW 9.94A.030 (35) defines "offender" as: "a person who has committed a felony" "Community corrections officer" means "an employee of the department ... responsible for carrying out specific duties in supervision of sentenced offenders and monitoring of sentence conditions." RCW 9.94A.030(4).

"Reasonable cause" has been judicially defined to mean well-founded suspicion. *State v. Massey*, 81 Wn. App. 198, 200, 913 P.3d 424 (1996); *State v. Lucas*, 56 Wn. App. 236, 244, 783 P.2d 121 (1989), *rev. denied*, 114 Wn.2d 1009, 790 P.2d 167 (1990); *Lampman*, 45 Wn. App. at 235. The statute links the term to the violation specified by RCW 9.94A.631(1)'s conditional clause. There is no sound syntactic means of applying the phrase across the comma to the main clause's description of searchable areas. Much less carrying it across with the triggering violation to restrict the scope of those areas. As a result, none of the statute's words, whether considered individually or in combination, are capable of limiting the areas authorized for search as *Jardinez* maintains.

Division III's interpretation of the statute is similarly incapable of finding support in the Division II cases it looked to for guidance. *Jardinez* appears to contend *Parris* indirectly acknowledged the feasibility of its interpretation by failing to "expressly rule ... all property of the offender may be searched." *Jardinez*, 184 Wn. App. at 528 (citing *Parris*, 163 Wn. App. at 110). But this Court clearly began its analysis from that long-

settled premise: "Washington does not require ... the search be necessary to confirm the suspicion of impermissible activity, or that it cease once the suspicion has been confirmed." *Parris*, 163 Wn. App. at 121-22 (citing *Conway*, 122 F.3d at 843).

No less problematic is *Jardinez'* contention *State v. Reichert*, 158 Wn. App. 374, 242 P.3d 44 (2010) "suggests ... the court deemed a nexus between the searched premises and the suspected crime was necessary" by remanding for a probable cause hearing to determine if the offender resided in the searched premises. *Jardinez*, 184 Wn. App. at 528. The residence search authorized by the statute is limited to the "offender's ... residence...."*State v. Winterstein*, 167 Wn.2d 620, 626-31, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009); *State v. Rooney*, 360 P.3d 913, 918 (2015). The only nexus *Reichert* contemplated is the statutorily required one between the offender and the area searched. Nothing in the decision condones further restricting the search to places suspected to contain evidence of a particular violation.

Contrary to *Jardinez'* characterization, the scope of the authorized search is not boundless. It is very clearly confined to the "offender's person, residence, automobile or other personal property." General words are to be accorded their full scope absent indication to the contrary, for general language is presumptively used to produce general coverage—not to leave room for *ad hoc* exceptions like the one *Jardinez* created. *See*

Antonin Scalia & Brian A. Garner, *Reading Law* 101 (2012).³ The statute's use of the catch-all phrase "other personal property" signals legislative intent to expand rather than restrict the contemplated search to ensure none of an offender's property fell beyond its reach. See *State Dept. of Rev. v. J.C. Penney Co., Inc.*, 96 Wn.2d 38, 50, 633 P.2d 870 (1981); *Cockle v. Dept. of Labor and Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 808-09, 16 P.3d 583 (2001). *Jardinez* found ambiguity where none exists by reading a conspicuously absent restriction into text that cannot bear it and then adopted that restriction as the statute's intended meaning.

ii. Jardinez should not have reached beyond the statute's clear language to academic commentary never enacted into law.

"[I]f ... statutory language is clear, the court may not look beyond [it] or consider legislative history...." *Thurston Bd. of Comm'rs*, 131 Wn. App. 85-93-94, (citing *Burton v. Lehman*, 153 Wn.2d 416, 422, 103 P.3d 1230 (2005); *C.J.C. v. Corp. of the Catholic Bishop*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 708, 985 P.2d 262 (1999)).

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